Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC06-1532

DANIEL LUGO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION RELIEF BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

APPELLANT=S INITIAL BRIEF

ROY D. WASSON
WASSON & ASSOCIATES, CHARTERED
Suite 205
5901 Southwest 74th Street
Miami, Florida 33143
(305) 666-5053 Telephone
(305) 666-0010 Facsimile
roy@wassonandassociates.com

Court-Appointed Registry Counsel

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from an order entered by the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Circuit denying post-conviction relief in a capital murder case. R.VIII-1124. In 1998, the Defendant Daniel Lugo was tried and convicted on numerous counts including two counts of First Degree Murder. *Lugo v. State*, 845 So. 2d 74, 91 & n. 30 (Fla. 2003) (*ALugo I*@). The facts of the underlying case appear in *Lugo I*.

Mr. Lugo was represented at trial by a single retained attorney, Ronald Guralnick. R.X-1512. Mr. Guralnick called no witnesses and introduced no evidence during the guilt phase of Mr. Lugo s trial. *Lugo I* at 91. During the penalty phase, Mr. Guralnick called as witnesses only Mr. Lugo mother and Santiago Gervacio, a long-time friend. *Id.* Mr. Lugo was sentenced to death, upon the recommendation of the jury by a vote of eleven to one. *Id.*

Special Assistant Public Defender J. Rafael Rodriguez was appointed to handle the direct appeal to this Court. *See id.* at 83. This Court affirmed the convictions and sentences on February 20, 2003.. *Id.* at 119. Rehearing was denied. The U.S. Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 6, 2003.

The Office of Capital Collateral Regional CounselCSouthern Region was appointed to handle these post-conviction proceedings. R. II-343. The CCRC almost immediately removed to withdraw based upon a conflict of interest. R. II-351. That motion was denied. R. II-358. Eventually, CCRC was relieved of its responsibility in this case and

the undersigned was appointed as Mr. Lugos counsel.

The undersigned filed Defendants Initial Motion for Post-conviction Relief and for Competency Evaluation seeking appointment of mental health experts to evaluate Mr. Lugos competency. R. III-360. Mental health experts were appointed, and examinations were conducted of the Defendant. Those experts agreed that the Defendant was indeed competent.

Mr. Lugo sought to discharge the undersigned by filing a Motion for Recusal of Roy D. Wasson as Counsel. R. III-522. Mr. Lugo thereafter¹ withdrew that motion. R. III-520.

The Defendant filed his Amended Motion for Post-conviction Relief raising seven claims. R. IV-564. Claim I was that AMr. Lugo was denied a fair trial because of a juror-s non-disclosure during voir dire regarding being a victim of violent crime. R. IV-577. Claim II was that AMr. Lugo-s trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to improper Golden Rule= arguments made by the prosecutor. R. IV-585. Claim III was that Atrial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to adequately investigate and present evidence of several non-statutory mitigators. R. IV-588. Claim

¹ The motion for recusal was not filed until the same day as Mr. Lugo=s withdrawal of that motion, December 21, 2004. However, the motion for recusal had been served in early November, 2004. R. III-525.

IV was that ADefendant was denied his right to consular relations under Article 36 of the Vienna Convention R. IV-600. Claim V was that AMr. Lugo was denied effective assistance of a capable mental health expert. R. IV-606. Claim VI was that AMr. Lugo is entitled to post-conviction relief because the prosecution withheld potentially useful information from him which impeached victim/witness Marc Schiller. R. IV-608. Claim VII was that ADefendant is entitled to post-conviction relief because he was tried and sentenced under an unconstitutional scheme in contravention of *Apprendi* and *Blakely*. R. IV-615.

A *Huff*² hearing was held on September 7, 2005. SR.I-3. The undersigned appeared and argued that the Defendant should be afforded an evidentiary hearing on Claim I (SR.I-4), Claim II (SR.I-15-16), Claim III (SR.I-18-19), Claim IV (SR.I-28, Claim V (SR.I-32), and Claim VI. SR.I-36. Defendant withdrew Claim VII (SR.I-39). The claim based upon the prosecutions withholding of evidence was supported by an email message dated October 31, 1996 from prosecutor Gail Levine to her then-superior, Michael Band reflecting Ms. Levines knowledge that star witness Schiller was guilty of Medicare fraud (which he had denied at trial) and was known to have been a target of a federal investigation. SR.I-38; R.III-468. The trial court summarily denied all claims except Claim III. SR.I-40-41.

²See Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

Before the evidentiary hearing on Claim III, the Defendant filed his Motion to Amend Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. R.VII-929. Mr. Lugo also filed his proposed Amendment to Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. R.VII-933. In that proposed amendment, Mr. Lugo sought to raise four additional claims. The first of those was that Mr. Lugo conviction was obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment because the arrest warrant was based upon false statements and material omissions of fact. R.VII-934. The second new claim was that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to seek suppression of evidence obtained in violation of Mr. Lugo Fourth Amendment rights. R.VII-938. Third, Mr. Lugo sought to add a claim that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to argue that Mr. Lugo-s arrest in the Bahamas violated his rights under Article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. R.VII-940. The fourth new claim that Defendant sought to assert was that Mr. Lugo was denied his rights under the self-executing extradition treaty with the Bahamas. R.VII-945.

A hearing was held on Defendant=s motion to amend his motion for post-conviction relief. R.IX-1463. The trial court denied that motion. R.IX-1467.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on Claim III dealing with trial counsels ineffectiveness in failing to investigate mitigation witnesses. Defendant at that evidentiary hearing called seven witnesses, including Mr. Lugo, and introduced as exhibits his school records from Xavier High School and Fordham University. Those school records showed that Mr. Lugo earned AFirst Honors@and ASecond Honors@in high school (SR.VII.-1096,

1098; SR. X-1475) and earned at least 110 credits toward his bachelor=s degree in college.

R.VIII-1095-1101.

Defendant called Judge Robert Holdman, a sitting judge in the New York Supreme Court who presides over criminal trials. R.X-1476. Judge Holdman before becoming a judge had served for fourteen years as a chief trial counsel in the Bronx District Attorney=s Office, where he prosecuted many murder cases. R.X-1476.

Judge Holdman knew Danny Lugo from his days at Fordham University, where the two played on the varsity football team together. R.X-1476. Those two competed for the same positions on the team=s defensive line along with other players. R.X-1477. All of those defensive line players Agot along very well.@ R.X-1477. When asked what kind of person Danny Lugo was, Judge Holdman said: ADanny was a good teammate. Hard worker and a good guy. Good teammate.@ R.X-1477.

Mr. Lugo was a year ahead of Judge Holdman in college. When asked if Mr. Lugo was a fair competitor, Judge Holdman said:

Yes. Danny was very good to me as a freshman, you know. As a freshman you=re new to the situation and easily taken advantage of, I guess you could say, and he never treated me poorly. In fact, just the opposite. He looked out for me.

RX-1478. Judge Holdman agreed that football players living in close proximity to one another must rely on each other, and he testified that Mr. Lugo was honest and trustworthy. R.X-1478.

Judge Holdman never knew of Mr. Lugo ever committing a violent act. R.X-1479. He had no reason to believe that Mr. Lugo ever committed a crime, before hearing about this case. R.X-1479. The judge had never heard of, or had any reason to believe that Mr. Lugo engaged in any dishonest behavior, selfish behavior, or immoral behavior. *Id.* The witness never knew the Defendant to have used drugs or alcohol. *Id.*

Judge Holdman came to Miami voluntarily to testify after being contacted by the undersigned-s investigator, David Wasser. R.X-1480. Judge Holdman was never contacted by anyone on behalf of Mr. Lugo-s trial counsel, Ronald Guralnick. *Id.*. Had he been contacted by Mr. Guralnick, Judge Holdman would have been willing to come to court during the sentencing phase of the trial and would have provided the same testimony as he gave at the post-conviction hearing. R.X-1481.

Defendant called as a witness Mr. O=Neal Tutein, who served as associate athletic director and head football coach at Fordham University from 1981 to 1985. R. X-1494. Mr. Tutein recalled that Danny Lugo played football for him for two years, after the coach recruited him from Xavier High School. R. X-1494. When asked what kind of person Danny Lugo was when Coach Tutein knew him at the football program at Fordham, the coach testified as follows:

He was an outstanding youngster. Very quiet. A very hard worker. Lived in the weight room. Took good care of himself and the kids liked him. You know, and as I say, it was hard to get close to him but *he was a person of character* and I certainly got that impression during the years he played for us because he worked very hard. He was very committed to the

program and the players liked him.

R. X-1495 (emphasis added).

Danny Awas not a troublemaker at all. R. X-1496. He had a good, friendly relationship with the other team members; he was a hard working football player; Danny was a fair competitor on the field; and Coach Tutein knew him to be honest and trustworthy. R.X-1497. The Coach never knew Danny to engage in any dishonest behavior, never saw him engage in any selfish behavior (Aexcept that he wanted to play@); did not engage in any immoral behavior to the Coach=s knowledge; and never abused drugs or alcohol. R. X-1497-98.

Coach Tutein first learned about this case when contacted by the undersigneds investigator, David Wasser. R. X-1498. Mr. Lugos trial attorney, Ron Guralnick, did not contact Coach Tutein back in 1998 when this case was tried. R. X-1499. Had Mr. Guralnick or someone on his behalf attempted to locate Coach Tutein, he would have been approximately equally accessible. *Id.* Had he been contacted by someone representing Mr. Lugo and asked to come to court to testify, he Aabsolutely would have done so. R. X-1499-1500.

Defendant called as a witness Charles Spinelli, the businessman from New Jersey who was a practicing attorney for thirteen years. R. X-1503. Mr. Spinelli played football with Danny Lugo at Fordham University. R. X-1504. Mr. Spinelli knew Danny to be a Ahardworking, dedicated teammate, who was a fair competitor, honest and trustworthy,

and a friend to the witness and other teammates. R. X-1504.

Other than the acts which are the subject of this case, Mr. Spinelli never heard of Danny Lugo committing any sort of violent acts, never heard of him being accused of committing any crime, and never heard that he was engaging in any sort of dishonest behavior. When asked if Danny behaved selfishly, Mr. Spinelli responded: ANo, in fact, it would be the opposite. He was a good teammate, hard working, dedicated teammate@ and was a generous person. R. X.1505. Mr. Spinelli never knew Danny to engage in immoral behavior or to use drugs or alcohol. *Id*.

Mr. Spinelli was not contacted by Mr. Lugo=s prior counsel, Ron Guralnick, about the trial of this case. R. X-1506. Had he been contacted by Mr. Guralnick, Mr. Spinelli would Aabsolutely@ have been willing to come into court and testify. *Id.* On cross examination by the prosecution, Mr. Spinelli testified that he was shocked to hear the specifics about the crimes of which Danny Lugo was convicted. R. X-1510. When asked if he was shocked A[b]ecause they=re shocking, those acts,@the witness disagreed and stated: ANo, because I did not believe that he would be the type of person to commit them.@ R. X-1510.

Defendant called Ron Guralnick, Mr. Lugo=s trial counsel. R. X-1512. Mr. Guralnick testified that Mr. Lugo Adidn≠ want to call anybody@ initially as mitigation witnesses. R. X-1513. Mr. Guralnick testified that, had he known of potential non-family members such as Coach Tutein who had positive things to say about Danny Lugo,

Mr. Guralnick would have regarded them as good mitigation witnesses that he would have called to testify about Dannys character, honesty, and integrity. Those questions and answers were as follows:

- Q. Let=s focus on non-family members. Did you look for any non-family member witnesses from the New York area?
- A. I had no information about non-family witnesses from Mr. Lugo so I had no reason to.
- Q. Did you ask Mr. Lugo where he went to high-school and college.
- A. I didn≠ know where he went to high-school. It was in New York some place but he went to Fordham University as I recall.
- Q. Did you request copies of his high school records from Fordham?
 - A. No, I did not.
- Q. Did you speak to any faculty members or coaches at Fordham?
- A. No, I did not because I spoke to Mr. Lugo at length about anything that he advised me of such as college, et cetera. The only thing I got out of him was that he was a fairly decent student and he played football for Fordham University.
- Q. And, if you had contacted the Fordham football program and found out about the coach from the program, Oneal [sic] Tutein, who thought he was like an outstanding young man with a lot of promise that would have been a good mitigation witness to call, wouldn=t it?
- A. It would of been a fair mitigation witness considering the facts of what actually happened.
 - Q. You had no reason strategically to call him, would you?
 - A. If Danny told me that that person that you are referring to could have something that would be helpful to Danny, I would of.

* * *

Q. And if you had called him and he had testified that he thought that Danny, when he knew him, was honest and reliable and a good sport, and didn# abuse alcohol and drugs and had a lot of good things going for

him, you think that would of made a difference I the mitigation penalty phase of the trial?

- A. It depends what he would of told me. There-s strategical decisions you need and I can-t then question because I never spoke to the man.
 - Q. Uh-huh.
 - A. Because I didn=t know about him.
- Q. But assuming that a person like a State prosecutor was going to say good things about Danny=s character and abilities and honesty, integrity, all this, that would of been a good mitigation witness that would influence the jury?
 - A. I would think so.

R. X-1514-16.

When asked specifically whether A a person like a state prosecutor was going to say good things about Danny=s character and abilities and honesty, integrity, all this, that would have been a good mitigation witness that would influence the jury, Mr. Guralnick responded: AI would think so. R. X-1516. When asked whether Mr. Guralnick Awould argue it in front of the jury in the penalty phase, he responded: AI would, if I knew about that witness. R. X-1517. Mr. Guralnick=s explanation for not investigating any of the mitigation witnesses called at the 3.851 hearing was that he did not know about them because Danny had not told him. *Id.* When asked if he contacted anyone at Fordham University, Mr. Guralnick responded: AI didn=t investigate the entire State of New York for possible people that knew him. If he would have told me that, I would, of course, speak to that gentleman. R. X-1517.

Mr. Guralnick did not attempt to obtain Danny Lugo-s academic records from

Fordham. *Id.* Although Mr. Guralnick testified that it was his recollection that Danny Lugo=s mother Atestified about him being a good student when he was in college.@ Mr. Guralnick also agreed that the credibility of A[a] family member testifying that somebody is a good student@is different Ain credibility from a transcript from the university.@ R. X-1518.

When asked whether he would have considered calling Judge Holdman as a character witness, he responded: Abased upon the other information you gave me *that would be a person I would speak to*, not necessarily because of the items that you just mentioned, because if he is a good boy at 32 years ago and then murdered people, I don't think that would cut anything with jury *but a judge who was a former prosecutor who had some decent things to say about him. If I had known about him, I didn't even know he had gone to school with him but, <i>if I had known about that I would definitely want to speak to that man. Id.* at 1518-19 (emphasis added).

Judge Young at the evidentiary hearing on this Rule 3.851 motion sustained the prosecution—s objection to the undersigned—s question to Mr. Guralnick concerning his knowledge of the requirement that he Ago to the schools and the neighborhood where the Defendant used to live and to his family members and ask them about prospective mitigation witnesses. R. X-1525. When the undersigned expressed surprise that Judge Young would sustain such an objection, the Court demonstrated confusion about the

nature of these proceedings, stating: AThis is not a 3.850 hearing. You're making this into a 3.850 hearing, and I am giving you some leeway, but you really need to just stay on the issue of why we're here today. R. X-1525.

When asked whether the only witnesses that Mr. Guralnick looked for were Anames that he [Danny Lugo] gave [him], Mr. Guralnick responded: AThis is not a guessing game. R. X-1528. Mr. Guralnick concluded his direct testimony by reiterating that, had he known of witnesses such as Judge Holdman, he might well have called them as character witnesses during the sentencing proceedings. After testifying again that Danny Lugo Anever told me some of those things, Mr. Guralnick concluded: AAnd, if he did, I might have thought, you know, that why, this former prosecutor as an example, that a guy I would call, but I didn know about him. R. X-1529.

On cross examination, Mr. Guralnick testified that his failure to call mitigation witnesses did not result from honoring Mr. Lugo=s wishes to refrain from calling such witnesses. When asked if it was Mr. Guralnick=s Achoice to call the Defendant=s mother,@ he responded that Mr. Lugo Adidn=t want me to call her.@ R. X-1535-36. When asked if he called the mother Adespite what he [Danny Lugo] wanted at the time,@Mr. Guralnick responded: AI didn=t care what he wanted.@ R. X-1536.

Cindy Velez testified that she was Mr. Lugo=s girlfriend when she was a teenager.

R. X-1546. She visited his family and got to know his parents and siblings. R. X-1546.

At the time, Danny was a college student at Fordham. R. X-1547. Danny lived in a

normal, average middle class home, did not use alcohol or drugs, and adhered to a curfew at home. R.X-1547. Ms. Velez has continued to visit Danny in prison since his conviction. She testified that A[h]e=s a wonderful person. Has a great heart. He=s very outgoing. Very good with people.@ R. X-1548.

Since the time Ms. Velez first knew Danny, he lived a healthy lifestyle, was a weightlifter, did not take steroids or smoke pot. And, other than the crimes involved in this case, never committed a violent act. R. X-1549. Ms. Velez was not contacted by Mr. Guralnick back before this case was tried in 1998. R. X-1552. If she had been contacted, she would have made herself available to come into court to testify about Mr. Lugo=s character, as she had done at the post-conviction hearing. R. X-1552-53.

The undersigned-s private investigator, David Wasser, testified concerning his investigation which led to the discovery of the witnesses who were called at the 3.851 hearing. R. X-1563. Mr. Wasser located witnesses Tutein, Holdman, Velez, and Spinelli using Abasic investigative techniques. R. X-1564. Mr. Lugo did not give Mr. Wasser the names of the coaches and fellow football players from Fordham University. Instead, Mr. Wasser in checking Mr. Lugo-s background, Anoticed one of the schools he went to was Fordham University, so Mr. Wasser Acalled the athletic department . . . [,] got a list of the roster of his football team where he played . . . [and] was able to just put information in the database of some of the people in the roster and found them very quickly. R. X-1565. Mr. Wasser traveled to the New York area to meet with these witnesses, and was

successful in approaching them and interviewing them. R. X-1566. AThey were very cooperative.@ *Id*.

When asked whether Mr. Wasser was Aonly looking for people who had good things to say about Danny@or was Alooking for anybody who had any information about Danny=s background,@he responded: AI didn=t know what I was going to find out so I found out what I found out and they were all telling me pretty much the same thing[:] he was a good person.@ R. X-1566. Mr. Wasser did not locate any witnesses who had any negative comments to say about Danny=s character. *Id*.

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