IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1532

DANIEL LUGO,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Further, given the conclusory nature of these assertions, the lower court also properly determined that they did not lift This Court has repeatedly held that conclusory the bar. assertions of ineffective assistance of counsel are insufficient to overcome a procedural bar. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, the insufficiency of the pleading of the ineffectiveness claim is all the more clear in light of Carratelli v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S390 (Fla. Jul. 5, 2007), which requires that a defendant show that a bias juror served before he is entitled to relief based on a claim of ineffective assistance regarding a juror challenge issue. Thus, the lower court properly determined that this insufficiently plead allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel was insufficient. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

III. THE CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO A COMMENT IN CLOSING WAS PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts the lower court erred in rejecting his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a comment in closing. Specifically, Defendant asserts that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a comment

in closing that this Court determined on direct appeal violated the Golden Rule but was harmless. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim, as it is procedurally barred and without merit.

Initially, the State would note that this claim was properly denied as procedurally barred. This Court has repeatedly held that where a claim was raised and decided on direct appeal, it cannot be relitigated in a post conviction proceeding under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Preston v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S296, S300 (Fla. May 31, 2007); Franqui v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S210, S213 (Fla. May 3, 2007); Miller v. State, 926 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 2006); Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000). In fact, in Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998), this Court directly held that claims regarding the propriety of comments in closing and the effective assistance of counsel for failing to object to comments in closing to be procedurally barred "[a]s a matter of law."

Here, Defendant raised the issue of the propriety of the State's comment on direct appeal. Initial Brief of Appellant, FSC Case No. SC93,994, at 75-80. This Court rejected the argument:

[Defendant] asserts that several statements made by the State during its closing argument in the guilt

phase constitute fundamental error and warrant relief in the form of a new trial. [FN60] Though we are concerned with one set of remarks in particular, we nevertheless conclude that relief based on fundamental error is not warranted in this case.

The prosecutor's statements which cause us concern are those related to an asserted "Golden Rule" argument. During her closing argument, the prosecutor addressed the jury as follows:

Imagine with tape over your mouth and a hood over your head, imagine it on Krisztina. Not on yourselves, on Krisztina and what Krisztina is going through.

fundamental in nature when An error is it. "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." McDonald, 743 So. 2d at 505. An improper "Golden Rule" argument typically occurs when counsel asks jurors to place themselves in the circumstances of the victim. It extends beyond the evidence and "unduly create[s], arouse[s] and inflame[s] the sympathy, prejudice and passions of [the] jury to the detriment of the accused." Urbin v. State, 714 So. 2d 411, 421 (Fla. 1998)(quoting Barnes v. State, 58 So. 2d 157, 159 (Fla. 1951)). The prosecutor unmistakably asked the jurors to place themselves in Furton's position, which clearly is error. We reject the State's assertion that the prosecutor's remarks were the evidence. merely permissible comments on Α seasoned prosecutor involved in a capital case knows to make an improper "Golden Rule" better than argument. However, because this incident was isolated, and an overwhelming amount of unrebutted evidence exists against [Defendant], we determine that the error is, on this record, harmless in nature and therefore deny relief.

* * * *

n60 [Defendant] concedes that fundamental error is the only basis for relief because he did not object to any of the remarks at issue.

Lugo, 845 So. 2d at 106-07. As the issue regarding the comment

was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly determined that the claim was barred and that raising the claim in the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel did not lift the bar. It should be affirmed.

While Defendant suggests that *Chandler v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 2003), shows the lower court erred in rejecting this claim, the opposite is true. There, the defendant had asserted that his counsel had been ineffective for failing to object to comments in closing after this Court had considered on direct appeal whether the comments constituted fundamental error. *Id.* at 1043-46. This Court determined that the rejection of the assertion of fundamental error on direct appeal foreclosed any finding that counsel's alleged deficiency in failing to object to the comment was prejudicial:

Because Chandler could not show the comments were fundamental error on direct appeal, he likewise cannot show that trial counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* test. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

The instant case is similar to *Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650, 664 (Fla. 2000), in which the defendant claimed defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to several improper remarks by the prosecutor. This Court stated that "because none of these prosecutorial comments would have constituted reversible error had they been objected to at trial, we affirm the trial court ruling summarily denying this claim." *Id.* at 664. Similarly, because we have previously held that the prosecutor's comments in this case did not constitute fundamental error, even though some of the prosecutor's comments in this case were ill-advised, they were not so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Thus, Chandler is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Id. at 1046. Thus, *Chandler* actually shows that the lower court properly summarily denied the claim. The denial should be affirmed.

Further, while Defendant asserts that the logic of *Chandler* is flawed because the level of prejudice that he needed to show logically has to be lower than the standard for reversal on direct appeal, it is Defendant's logic that is flawed. As this Court has recognized, once a conviction becomes final, the interest in finality of the judgment attaches and is only overcome by a showing that the proceeding through which the conviction was obtained was unfair. *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 924-25 (Fla. 1980). Thus, as this Court has stated:

Postconviction relief procedures, such as those authorized by our Rule 3.850, offer an avenue to challenge a once final judgment and sentence in limited instances, and for limited reasons. The United States Supreme Court recently noted:

It has, of course, long been settled law that an error that may justify reversal on direct appeal will not necessarily support a collateral attack on a final judgment. The reasons for narrowly limiting the grounds for collateral attack on final judgments are well known and basic to our adversary system of justice. *

* Inroads on the concept of finality tend to undermine confidence in the integrity of our procedures . . . Moreover, [the] increased volume of judicial work associated with the processing of collateral attacks inevitably impairs and delays the orderly administration of justice. Because there is no limit on the time when a collateral attack may be made, evidentiary hearings are often inconclusive and retrials may be impossible if the attack is successful. . .

United States v. Addonizio, 442 U.S. 178, 184 & n.11, 99 S. Ct. 2235, 2240 & n.11, 60 L. Ed. 2d 805 (1979) (footnote omitted). See also Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618, 637-38, 85 S. Ct. 1731, 1741-42, 14 L. Ed. 2d 601 (1965).

Witt, 387 So. 2d at 925. Given this interest in finality, it is entirely logical that the burden on a defendant to show that he was deprived of a fair trial is not lower than the standard to obtain a reversal on direct appeal but higher than that standard. Defendant's suggestion to the contrary should be rejected, and the lower court affirmed.

IV. THE VIENNA CONVENTION CLAIM WAS PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that he was entitled to dismissal of the indictment or suppression of evidence based on an alleged violation of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. He asserts that had he been advised of his right to contact the consulate under the Convention, he would have contacted the consulate and asked the consulate to provide legal assistance, and that this contact with the consulate would have rendered it likely that he would have been provided with an extradition hearing. However, the lower court properly summarily denied the claim, as Defendant lacked standing to raise it, the claim was procedurally barred, prejudice was not adequately alleged and the remedies Defendant sought are not available.

In Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944, 959 (Fla. 2000), this Court rejected a Vienna Convention claim, expressly stating that the defendant had "failed to establish that he has standing, as treaties are between countries, not citizens. See Matta-Ballesteros, 896 F.2d 255 (7th Cir. 1990)." See also Gordon v. State, 863 So. 2d 1215, 1221 (Fla. 2003). Here, the failure to establish standing is particularly acute. The record reflects that the Bahamian authorities arrested Defendant at request of Special Agent Jerry Forrester, who was working in the legal attaché office to the Bahamas. (T. 10605-08) Agent Forrester requested the arrest at the request of the Miami-Dade Police. (T. 10604-08, 10649-51) Thus, the essence of Defendant's claim is that when he was arrested by the Bahamian authorities at the request of the American authorities, the Bahamian authorities did not inform him of his right to contact the American authorities.¹⁰ However, given that the American authorities were

¹⁰ In fact, because of a bilateral agreement between the countries, the Bahamian authorities were actually required to

the driving force behind the Bahamian authorities' arrest of Defendant, it is highly unlikely that they were unaware that the Bahamian authorities had done as they had asked or that the American authorities would seek any diplomatic remedy based on the alleged violation of the Convention, which as the United States Supreme Court noted in *Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon*, 126 S. Ct. 2669, 2682 (2006), is the "primary means of enforcing the Convention." Thus, the lower court properly found that Defendant had no standing to assert this claim under *Maharaj*, and should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant did have standing, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief because the claim is procedurally barred. This Court has held that claims based on alleged violations of the Vienna Convention are procedurally barred in post conviction proceeding. *Gordon v. State*, 863 So. 2d at 1221; *Maharaj*, 778 So. 2d at 959. In *Sanchez-Llamas*, 126 S. Ct. at 2687, the Court held that it was perfectly permissible for state courts to bar Vienna Convention claims in the manner that this Court has. Thus, the lower court also properly rejected this claim as procedurally barred. It should be affirmed.

Even if Defendant did have standing and the claim was not barred, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief because

contact the consulate and then inform Defendant they had done so. Consular Convention, 3 U.S.T. 3426, Art. 16, ¶2.

he did not adequately plead prejudice. This Court has held that for a defendant to plead prejudice from an alleged Vienna Convention violation adequately, the defendant must show that the alleged "violation had an effect on the trial." Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 166 (Fla. 2002)(quoting Breard v. Greene, 523 U.S. 371, 372 (1998)); see also Gordon, 863 So. 2d at 1221. Here, Defendant has never alleged that the alleged violation of the Vienna Convention would have had an affect on the outcome of the trial. Instead, he has only asserted that he would have sought an extradition hearing had the Convention not been violated. However, he does not assert that the holding of an extradition hearing would have in any way affected the outcome of the trial. This is particularly true as the extradition treaty in effect at the time of Defendant's arrest between the United States and the Bahamas specifically permits the extradition of a defendant exposed to the death penalty for the crime of murder and allows trial for offenses not included in the initial extradition request with the consent of the other government. Extradition Treaty, Mar. 9, 1990, U.S.-Bah., Art. 7 & 14, S. Treaty Doc No. 102-17.¹¹ Thus, it does not appear that any challenge to Defendant's extradition would have been successful and would have affected the outcome of trial. Under

¹¹ The version of the extradition treaty cited in Defendant's brief has been superseded by the extradition treaty cited above.

these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that Defendant had not sufficiently alleged prejudice. *Darling v. State*, 808 So. 2d at 166; *see also Gordon*, 863 So. 2d at 1221.

Further, even Defendant's speculative assertion of prejudice appears to be based on a mistake of law. Defendant's assertion that he would have learned of his right to contest extradition is based on his assertion that he would have asked the consulate "to provide him with legal advice." Initial Brief, FSC Case No. SC06-1532, at 39-40. In the lower court, Defendant characterized the provision of such legal advice as "the required information that he would have been given by the consulate." However, as the United States Supreme Court stated in Sanchez-Llamas, the Convention "does not guarantee defendants any assistance at all. The provision secures only a right of foreign nationals to have their consulate informed of their arrest or detention-not to have their consulate intervene." Sanchez-Llamas, 126 S. Ct. at 2681. Thus, there is no required information, and while Defendant may have asked for legal advice from the consulate, there is no indication that the consulate would have provided any.¹² Thus, even Defendant's assertion that

¹² It should be noted that Defendant had business cards for several lawyers both in Florida and the Bahamas and payment information for the Florida lawyers who represented him in this matter at the time of his arrest with him at the time of his arrest. (T. 10626-27, 10629, 10651-53) Moreover, the record

contact with the consulate would have enable him to fight extradition is based on Defendant's incorrect assumption that the consulate would have been required to provide him with assistance. Under these circumstances, the lower court properly denied the claim because Defendant did not adequately allege prejudice. *Ragsdale v. State*, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998). It should be affirmed.

Contrary to Defendant's suggestion United States v. Antonakeas, 255 F.3d 714 (9th Cir. 2001), does not hold that a claim of an inability to seek relief under an extradition treaty establishes prejudice from a Vienna Convention claim. Instead, the Court simply found the claim was procedurally barred because it had not been preserved in the trial court and refused to address the claim on the merits. *Id.* at 720-21. The mere fact that a court rejected a claim as unpreserved does not show that the claim had any merit. Defendant's suggestion to the contrary should be rejected.

Even if Defendant had standing, the claim was not procedurally barred and Defendant had adequately alleged prejudice, the claim would still have been properly summarily denied. The remedies that Defendant sought were not available.

reflects that Defendant was asked if he wished to return to Florida voluntarily and agreed to do so without contesting extradition. (T. 10609, 10638-39)

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